IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

JAMES B. YELVERTON

VS.

RHONDA H. YELVERTON

FILED

APPELLANT

MAR 2 1 2007 CAUSE NO. 2006-CA-01498

Office of the Clerk Supreme Court Court of Appeals

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLANT JAMES B. YELVERTON

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

MICHAEL J. MALOUF, ESQ. MSB NO. 1843
MELISSA A. MALOUF, ESQ. MSB NO. 99774
MALOUF & MALOUF
501 East Capitol Street
Jackson, Mississippi 39201
(601) 948-4320

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

JAMES B. YELVERTON

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2006-CA-01498

RHONDA H. YELVERTON

APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The Chancellor Erred in Not Awarding Jim Relief on his Motion for Modification.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Judgment of Divorce was entered in this cause on April 29, 2004, wherein Rhonda H. Yelverton (hereinafter "Rhonda") was granted a divorce from James B. Yelverton (hereinafter "Jim"), and was awarded custody of the two (2) minor children born of the parties. Jim was required to pay child support in the amount of \$2,500 per month, together with periodic alimony in the amount of \$2,500 per month, and lump-sum alimony in the total amount of \$250,000, payable at \$5,000 per month. (T 23) On July 26, 2004, a Judgment on Complaint for Contempt was entered wherein the Chancellor found Jim in arrears on child support and alimony in the amount of \$66,251.61. (RE 2, R 1) On August 12, 2004, Rhonda filed another Complaint for Contempt and for Other Relief, but said complaint was never heard. (RE 3, R 4) Thereafter, on or about August 20, 2004, Jim perfected his appeal to the Supreme Court of Mississippi on both the Judgment of Divorce and Judgment on Complaint for Contempt. That appeal is still pending before the Supreme Court of Mississippi. (No. 2004-CA-01684)

On December 20, 2005, Jim filed his **Motion for Modification** seeking to reduce his child support and periodic alimony payments as a result of his being terminated as general manager of Yelverton Mitsubishi. That motion was tried before the Chancellor on March 27, 2006. (RE 4, R 15) On June 7, 2006, the Chancellor entered a **Judgment on Complaint for Contempt and Motion for Modification**, finding that Jim had shown a material change in circumstances and was entitled to relief, but denied such relief since his hands were "unclean". (RE 5, R 17) Jim perfects his appeal of said judgment.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Chancellor Erred in Not Awarding Jim Relief on his Motion for Modification

The Judgment of Divorce entered in this cause required Jim to pay \$10,000 a month in child support and alimony. (T 23) Additionally, Jim was ordered to pay \$66,251.61 plus interest pursuant to the **Judgment on Complaint for Contempt** entered on July 26, 2004. (RE 2, R 1) In October of 2005, Jim was fired from Yelverton Mitsubishi, but was to be paid through December 31, 2005. (T 33, 92, RE 6, Ex 2) Since Jim did not have a high school degree or any other job training or skills, his only option was to seek gainful employment in the same industry. However, due to his ongoing divorce proceedings, he was denied employment with Turan Foley Motors on two separate occasions. (T 99-100) Jim, therefore, began selling used vehicles to individuals. but did not have a used car lot. (T 97) The business grossed \$3,000 - \$4,000 per month. (T 23, 96, RE 5, R 17, Ex 4) Financially unable to comply with the Court's ruling, Jim, in December of 2005, filed a Motion for Modification. (RE 4, R15) The Chancellor found that there had been a material change in circumstances, but denied Jim's request stating that Jim had "unclean hands". (RE 5, R 17)

Jim respectfully submits that the Chancellor manifestly abused his discretion in not granting Jim the relief sought.

ARGUMENT

The Chancellor Erred in Not Awarding Jim Relief on his Motion for Modification.

A Judgment of Divorce was entered in this cause on or about April 29, 2004. wherein Rhonda was granted a divorce from Jim, and was awarded custody of the two (2) minor children born of the parties. Jim was required to pay child support in the amount of \$2,500 per month, together with periodic alimony in the amount of \$2,500 per month, and lump-sum alimony in the total amount of \$250,000, payable at \$5,000 per month. (T 23) At the time of the divorce, the Chancellor found that Jim was "capable" of earning \$12,000 per month after taxes as general manager of Yelverton Mitsubishi, though his monthly salary was actually \$10,000, with a net of \$6,400. Approximately three months after the **Judgment of Divorce**, the Chancellor on July 26, 2004 entered a Judgment on Complaint for Contempt wherein the Chancellor found that Jim was in arrears on child support and alimony payments in the amount of \$66,251.61 plus interest. (RE 2, R 1) Financially unable to comply with the Court's rulings and becoming more delinquent each month, Jim perfected his appeal to the Supreme Court of Mississippi on both the Judgment of Divorce and Judgment on Complaint for Contempt. That appeal is still pending before the Supreme Court of Mississippi. (No. 2004-CA-01684)

On or about August 12, 2004, only two weeks after the entry of the **Judgment on**Complaint for Contempt, Rhonda again filed a Complaint for Contempt and for

Other Relief, alleging in part that Jim was again in contempt of court for failing to pay

the required child support and alimony. (RE 2, R 4) That complaint was not heard until Jim's **Motion for Modification** was tried on March 27, 2006.

In October 2005, without prior notice, Jim was terminated as general manager of Yelverton Mitsubishi. (T 91-92) As a result of that termination, Jim, on December 27, 2005 filed a **Motion for Modification**. (RE 4, R 15) In denying Jim's request for relief, the Chancellor stated:

As to the modification, James has shown a substantial and material change in his employment circumstances since the date of the Judgment of Divorce, in that his income has dropped approximately 60%. If he had been current on his child support, and alimony, this Court would not hesitate to grant him the relief requested. Even if not current on his child support, if he had shown a good faith effort to comply with the prior instruction of this Court, he would arguably be entitled to the relief requested. The proof at trial however, indicated that he is substantially in arrears, and has made no effort to correct the deficiency. Most troubling about his behavior to this Court is that James received such a significant tax refund for 2005, 70-75% of which he would attribute to his earnings (or, approximately \$25,000) and did absolutely nothing to assist Rhonda or his children. (emphasis added)

(RE 5, R 17)

The Chancellor was correct in finding that Jim's income had substantially decreased and that Jim had shown a material change in circumstances. However, the Chancellor was in error in finding that Jim had not shown good faith in trying to comply with prior instructions of the Court. Prior to his termination, Jim's net wages of \$6,400 were being garnished, and Rhonda was paid \$3,200 per month through such garnishment. (T 22-23, 92) In October of 2005, Jim was fired as general manager of

Yelverton Mitsubishi but was paid through December 31, 2005. (T 33, 92, RE 6, Ex 2)

After notice of his termination, Jim immediately sought other employment. Since he did not have a high school degree or any other job training or skills, his only option was to seek employment in the same industry. He applied for employment with a former partner, Turan Foley Motors, on two separate occasions, but was denied due to his on going divorce proceedings. (T 99-100) He subsequently began selling used vehicles to individuals without the benefit of a used car lot. (T 97) Such business grossed \$3,000-\$4,000 per month. (T 23, 96, RE 5, R 17, Ex 4)

Jim further testified that he owned no house, vehicle, or other asset other than the few older model vehicles he purchased for resale. (T 24, 32, 41, 50, 97, 98, 104, Ex 4) Further, he had no checking, savings, or retirement account or any other such investment. (T 55, 98, 105)

With regards to the tax refund, James testified that he and his current wife, Tracy, received a \$34,000 joint tax refund for 2005 which was in part due to the damage she received from Hurricane Katrina. (T 94-95) James recognized that half of the joint refund belonged to Tracy, which left him approximately \$17,000. *Id.* Of that amount, James paid his attorney \$7,500 for his 2004 appeal to the Supreme Court and used some of the remaining funds for living expenses and to purchase inventory for his used car business. (T 95) He testified that he had approximately \$4,000 left which he offered to pay, and did pay, to Rhonda. (T 100, 111)

The Chancellor was in error in ruling that he could not grant Jim relief since he

was in arrears. The Supreme Court of Mississippi has held that a modification should be granted even if the petitioner has not complied with the former judgment of the court if **performance of said judgment has been wholly impossible**. *Kincaid v. Kincaid*, 57 So.2d 263 (Miss. 1952), and *Cregg v. Montgomery*, 587 So.2nd 928 (Miss. 1991). Jim has made a clear showing that he is incapable of paying the amounts the Chancellor previously ordered.

In Setser vs. Piazza, 644 So.2d 1211 (Miss. 1994), this Court held that a father should not be held in contempt for failure to pay child support where the father's financial condition changed, and he promptly filed for a modification." In Setser, the husband filed for a petition for abatement due to Hurricane Andrew destroying all of his property and limiting his ability to earn income. This Court held that the husband's "proof supported his impossibility of performance(and that) the chancellor was manifestly in error in failing to abate his obligation for child support and in finding that he had unclean hands." *Id*.

In *Parker vs. Parker*, 645 So.2d 1327 (Miss. 1994), this Court held that when the payor spouse is terminated from his employment, the loss of income is a substantial change in circumstances which justifies a modification of child support. As in *Setser* and *Parker*, it is impossible for Jim to comply with the Chancellor's ruling.

On the other hand, since the entry of the Judgment of Divorce, Rhonda's financial position has improved substantially. Rhonda received \$70,000 from the sale of the house and lot and is presently earning approximately \$44,000 per year. (T 65, 85) She had

recently purchased a nice home and a \$38,000 Mercedes SUV. (T 65, 71) Further, Blake, their sixteen year old son, was working at Wing Stop approximately 10-20 hours per week at \$10 per hour. (T 117) Such income by Blake should be considered in determining the amount of child support needed for him.

While the Chancellor may have been frustrated with Jim for not complying with his earlier rulings, it was apparent that such failure was not intentional, but due to Jim's inability. The Judgment of Divorce ordered Jim to pay \$10,000 per month, though he only netted \$6,400. (T 23) His wages were being garnished, and approximately \$3,200 a month was being paid to Rhonda. *Id.* It became readily apparent that Jim was going to continue to get further in arrears through no fault of his own, unless he was granted some relief. Jim's arrearage continued to climb \$6,800 a month even while he was employed with Yelverton Mitsubishi. The Chancellor in his **Judgment of Divorce** made it impossible for Jim to comply with the Court's ruling, and left Jim in a vicious circle from which he could not extricate himself. The Chancellor's refusal to grant relief after acknowledging Jim's material change in circumstances was a manifest abuse of discretion.

Though Jim was behind in his payments due to his inability to pay same, the Chancellor could have entered a judgment against him for the arrearages, thereby "cleansing" Jim's hands to pursue the requested relief. The law is well settled in this state that an individual can be granted relief even though he may be in arrears. A judgment "cleanses" hands, and allows the petitioner to present his request for

modification. *Brennan v. Brennan*, 605 So.2d 749 (Miss. 1992), *Lane v. Lane*, 850 So.2d 122 (Miss. App. 2002), *Howard vs. Howard*, 913 So.2d 1030 (Miss. App. 2005). Jim respectfully submits that the Chancellor manifestly abused his discretion in not granting him the requested relief.

CONCLUSION

For the above and foregoing reasons, Jim respectfully requests that the judgment of the lower court be reversed.