IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2006-CA-01498

JAMES B. YELVERTON

APPELLANT

VERSUS

RHONDA H. YELVERTON

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEE RHONDA H. YELVERTON

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

D. SCOTT GIBSON
ATTORNEY AT LAW
MS BAR NO 8460
P.O. BOX 208
GULFPORT, MS 39502
(228)863-0900
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE,
RHONDA YELVERTON

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2006-CA-001498

JAMES B. YELVERTON

APPELLANT

VERSUS

RHONDA H. YELVERTON

APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Chancellor was not manifestly wrong in denying Jim Yelverton's request for modification because Jim Yelverton came into Court with unclean hands.

The chancellor found that Jim Yelverton had shown a material change in circumstances, however, due to Jim Yelverton's conduct the chancellor found that Jim had unclean hands and did not grant him his requested modification.

Just days before the hearings on the instant actions, Rhonda's contempt action and Jim's motion for modification on March 27, 2006, Jim Yelverton received the sum of \$ 34,000.00 as an income tax refund. He attributed at least 75% of these funds to his income. At the time that he received these funds, Jim was in contempt for failure to pay child support and alimony as a result of the Judgment of the Chancery Court of July 31st 2004. (T. 27) Further at the time he had received these funds he had made income of \$ 3,000.00 to \$ 4,000.00 from selling cars and \$ 7,000.00 from selling chicken wings. (T. 39-40). In spite of receiving this income from December 31, 2005 to the date of the hearing, March 27, 2006, Jim Yelverton paid no sum, zero (0.00) dollars, to Rhonda Yelverton for child support or alimony. He made absolutely no attempt to meet his obligations required by the Court. While at the time he was receiving this income and not paying any, zero, support, he had a race car, signed a lease for a new truck and his wife, Tracy, was driving a 2005 Hummer. (T. 42).

The chancellor did not err in refusing to a grant Jim Yelverton relief, he had unclean hands.

ARGUMENT

This is a modification action arising from a divorce Judgment. The standard of review employed in domestic relations cases is well-settled. Chancellor's have broad discretion. A chancellor's findings and his determinations will not be disturbed unless it can be determined that the chancellor actions are manifestly wrong, constitute an abuse of discretion, or represent the application of an erroneous legal standard. *Sandlin v. Sandlin*, 699 So. 2d 1198, 1203 (Miss. 1997)

Further issues of alimony and support are discretionary, and a reviewing Court will reverse only if a chancellor is manifestly in error, if the factual findings of the chancellor are manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous or if the chancellor has applied an erroneous legal standard. *Lane v. Lane*, 850 So. 2d 122 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002). *See also, Jerome v. Stroud*, 689 So.2d 755, 757 (Miss.1997).

The issue in the instant appeal is whether the chancellor was in error in finding that Jim Yelverton came before the Court with unclean hands based on the facts before the Court and thus not entitled a modification of support and alimony.

Jim Yelverton admitted that he had not paid all the support that was owed under the terms of the Judgment of the Court. He admitted that he was in contempt of the Court's Judgment. His defense was that he simply had the inability to pay. He admitted that for the three months leading up to the hearing, while earning various amounts of income and receiving a \$ 34,000.00 refund, he paid nothing, zero, (0.00) child support or alimony.

This Court has settled this law as follows:

...if the husband undertakes to exonerate himself because of his inability to pay his proof must conform to [these] rules, namely: 'That he earned all he could, the he lived economically and paid all surplus money above a living on the alimony decreed to the wife. And such proof must be made with particularity and not in general terms. In such as case he must show what his earnings were and what his living expense was, including that of those legally dependent on him, but not of any other person. The payment of other debts or expenses will not excuse or justify his default, unless such payment was necessary in order to continue his business or occupation, because his wife's right to alimony is a prior and paramount claim on his earnings. Nor will the fact that his earnings were insufficient to support himself and pay alimony exonerate him if he has other money or property which he could sell or encumber to get money with which to make the payments, even though it may be exempt.

Kincaid v. Kincaid, 57 So. 2d 263 (Miss. 1957).

Jim Yelverton failed to make the required showing entitling him to a modification in the face of his conduct and income. From December 15, 2005 to March 27, 2006, although Jim received some \$45,000.00 income, (a small portion of which, but surely not all, was attributable to his wife, Tracy), Jim Yelverton paid zero dollars, (0.00), for child support and alimony. He did not sell his race car to make any payments and he entered into a \$337.00 per month lease for a new truck. "[N]o person as a complaining party can have the aid of a court of equity when his conduct with respect to the transaction in question has been characterized by wilful inequity." Lane v. Lane, 850 So. 2d 122, 126 citing O'Neill v. O'Neill, 551 So. 2d 228, 223 (Miss. 1989) and Brennan v. Brennan, 605 So. 2d 749, 752 (Miss. 1992). Surely Jim's conduct as settled by the evidence in the record clearly support the finding by the chancellor that was wilful and was inequitable as to his duties and obligations to his children and Rhonda.

Jim did not earn all he could, did not live economically, did not pay all surplus money above a living on the child support and alimony decreed. Jim paid his new wife, Tracy, at least \$1,7000.00, paid his lawyer \$7,000.00, leased a new automobile, paid other expenses and paid zero, (0.00), nothing to Rhonda for support and alimony as ordered by the Court. Beyond any doubt Jim Yelverton's hands were unclean and he was not entitled a modification. *Id. Setzer v. Piazza*, 644 So. 2d 1211, 1216 (Miss. 1994); *Brennan v. Brennan*, 605 So. 2d 749 (Miss. 1992)

CONCLUSION

The chancellor did not err in refusing to award a modification to Jim Yelverton. Jim failed to make the requisite showings, he was in bad faith and he came before the Court with unclean hands. The chancellor's Judgment denying Jim Yelverton a modification should be upheld.